STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

ORIGINAL

Certiorari to Supreme Court County
Honorable J. Michael Baxley, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED
NOV 16 2018
S.C. SUPREME COURT
RESPONDENT,

THE STATE,

V.

GERALD RUDELL WILLIAMS,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2018-000994

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

DAVID ALEXANDER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1.

Whether the Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court's charge of transferred intent for attempted murder?

2.

Whether the Court of Appeals erred in finding harmless the trial court's erroneous refusal to charge the lesser included offense of first-degree assault and battery?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 9, 2013, a Saluda County grand jury indicted petitioner Gerald Rudell Williams for three counts of attempted murder. R. 762 – R. 767. On October 14, 2013, petitioner was tried before the Honorable J. Michael Baxley and a jury. R. 1. Ervin J. Maye represented the State. R. 1. Bennett E. Casto and Robert M. Madsen represented petitioner. R. 1. The jury convicted petitioner. R. 722, l. 23 – 723, l. 17. Judge Baxley sentenced petitioner to concurrent terms of twenty years' imprisonment. R. 738, ll. 4 – 11. After hearing oral argument on March 14, 2017, the Court of Appeals affirmed in a published opinion authored by Judge Williams and joined by Judges Konduros and Lee. State v. Williams, 422 S.C. 525, 812 S.E.2d 917 (2018). After the Court of Appeals denied rehearing, this Court granted certiorari on October 18, 2018, and this brief of petitioner follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review on Question One is *de novo*. Whether the attempted murder statute allows intent to be transferred is a purely legal question and legal questions are reviewed *de novo*. Sellner v. State, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016). The standard of review on Question Two is whether the trial court's error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Middleton, 407 S.C. 312, 317, 755 S.E.2d 432, 435 (2014).

ARGUMENT

1.

The Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court's charge of transferred intent for attempted murder.

Factual and Procedural Background

Al Jerome Young ("Young") was a drug dealer. R. 270, ll. 18 – 22. He had a prior conviction for giving a false name to law enforcement. R. 270, l. 23 – 271, l. 1. Young testified that in April 2012, he met a man named Oriental James Charley ("Charley") concerning a drug deal. R. 272, ll. 18 – 24. Charley gave him \$26,000.00 in cash. R. 272, l. 25 – 273, l. 1. Young never intended to deliver the drugs and agreed with the solicitor that his intention was "to rip [Charley] off." R. 273, ll. 2 – 13.

Young testified that on the night of April 13, 2012, he was at home when he heard the dog barking. R. 275, ll. 3 – 9. Also in Young's house were Ycedra Williams ("Ycedra") and Joseph Wrighton ("Joseph"). R. 275, ll. 3 – 22. According to Young, Ycedra "saw two guys running in the yard and that's when she yelled out." R. 275, ll. 3 – 9. Young grabbed his money and .40 caliber pistol and told Ycedra to turn off all the lights. R. 275, ll. 10 – 14. Ycedra called the police. R. 275, ll. 15 – 18. As Joseph walked to the door, "shots rang out." R. 275, l. 19 – 276, l. 5. Young returned fire. R. 276, ll. 1 – 5. When the police ultimately arrived, Young told Joseph and Ycedra to tell them he was not there because he had a probation warrant. R. 276, l. 19 – 277, l. 15. Both Ycedra and Joseph admitted pleading guilty to giving false information to police for lying about Young not been being present. R. 237, ll. 3 – 7. R. 258, ll. 1 – 19.

Young claimed he never went outside during the exchange of gunfire, but said that he had fired his weapon in his backyard on a previous occasion. R. 274, ll. 1 – 12. R. 276, ll. 16 – 18. Multiple .40 caliber shell casings were found in the yard. R. 513, l. 9 – 514, l. 5. R. 369, ll. 14 – 21. Three different firearms were collected from the scene. R. 373, l. 17 – 374, l. 8. No one was injured and none of the people in the house identified petitioner as one of the shooters.

Ycedra testified that a few days before the gunfight, she saw people come to Young's trailer looking for him in a van. R. 221, l. 5 – 222, l. 17. Ycedra saw five people in the van. R. 221, ll. 19 – 24. Petitioner was Ycedra's second cousin and she did not identify petitioner as being with the people in the van. R. 217, l. 22 – 218, l. 3. R. 240, ll. 18 – 20.

The night of the gunfight, the police were looking for Charley and his green van. R. 151, l. 18 – 153, l. 9. When the 911 call came, police officer Jerry Grenier ("Grenier") was on patrol and answered the call. R. 296, l. 1 – 297, l. 17. On the way to the call, he noticed a minivan parked on the side of the road. R. 297, l. 18 – 299, l. 13. Officer Grenier and his partner checked the van and called Officer Brett Long ("Long") to ask him to watch the vehicle for them so they could respond to the scene of the shooting. R. 297, l. 18 – 299, l. 13.

Officer Long found a green colored minivan by the side of the road. R. 323, ll. 5 – 11. He pulled behind the van. R. 324, l. 5 – 326, l. 10. He turned on his bright headlights and his blue lights. R. 324, ll. 14 – 16. He saw a person who "undoubtedly was laying in the ditch beside the van" stand up and face him. R. 324, ll. 14 – 18. Officer Long got out of his car and ordered the person to stop and show him his hands. R. 324, ll. 14 – 21. The person then got into the passenger side of the van and it slowly drove away. R. 324, l. 14 – 325, l. 17.

Officer Long got in his car to follow the van and notified the other officers. R. 325, ll. 1 – 17. Officer Grenier pulled his car in front of the van to box it in. R. 325, ll. 18 – 23. The van

stopped. R. 325, ll. 18 – 25. The police testified they found petitioner driving the van and Charley on the passenger side. R. 326, l. 23 – 327, l. 8.

Charley testified for the defense and, as the Court of Appeals noted, his direct-examination and cross-examination contradicted each other.¹ R. 578, ll. 1 – 10. Williams at 920, n.4. On direct-examination, Charley testified that he told petitioner he would pay him to drive Charley and a man named Rico that night. R. 586, l. 5 – 587, l. 11. Charley told petitioner he was “going to see some girls.” R. 587, ll. 23 – 25. Charley never told petitioner anything about a shooting, or guns, or his dispute with Young. R. 588, ll. 1 – 13.

While petitioner waited in the van, Charley and Rico went to Young’s trailer. R. 592, l. 3 – 593, l. 7. Charley heard Young shout. R. 593, ll. 14 – 21. Young opened the door of the trailer and fired two shots in the air. R. 594, ll. 2 – 6. Charley then fired one shot in the air and his gun jammed. R. 594, ll. 9 – 21. Charley ran. R. 594, ll. 24 – 25. Charley said Rico “had to shoot.” R. 594, l. 17 – 18. When Charley got into the van, he said the police pulled up “within five seconds.” R. 595, ll. 16 – 23. Petitioner was still in the van when Charley returned. R. 595, ll. 16 – 18.

On cross-examination, the solicitor immediately confronted Charley with the fact that he had already pled guilty but had not yet been sentenced. R. 603, l. 21 – 606, l. 14. Charley responded that he believed he was going to receive a sentence of eight years. R. 606, ll. 4 – 6. The solicitor accused Charley of “double-crossing the State.” R. 606, ll. 15 – 19.

After the solicitor accused Charley of a double-cross and mentioned his plea deal, Charley recanted his direct-examination testimony and implicated petitioner in the shooting. R.

¹ During post-trial motions, Judge Baxley called Charley “probably the most noncredible witness I think I’ve ever seen in 14 years of this job.” R. 734, ll. 15 – 22.

607, l. 13 – 633, l. 24. Under intense questioning from the solicitor, Charley said petitioner was with him at the scene of the shooting and that there was no “Rico.” R. 607, l. 13 – 613, l. 25.

However, Charley was adamant that Ycedra and her brother were not in the house at the time of the shooting. R. 617, ll. 8 – 23. Charley testified that he knew they were not there because the van that Ycedra drove was not in the yard. R. 617, ll. 8 – 23. Charley testified he had no “beef” with Ycedra and no “beef” with Joseph. R. 617, l. 24 – 618, l. 5. When asked why he would have “shot the whole house up not caring about whether they lived or died,” Charley responded, “I can’t say I was not caring about whether they lived or died. He shot, so I shot in the air, that’s how it happened.” R. 618, ll. 6 – 11. Charley claimed petitioner shot, but did not know the direction that petitioner fired. R. 620, ll. 9 – 13. When shown a picture of the trailer, Charley explained that some of the bullet holes could have come from inside the trailer. R. 629, ll. 4 – 21.

The Trial Court’s Charge, the Objection Below, and the Court of Appeals’ Decision

Petitioner objected to the trial court’s charge on transferred intent. R. 715, l. 18 – 716, l.

7. The State requested the charge. R. 716, ll. 8 – 21. Petitioner argued:

We object to the transfer[red] intent charge. Generally speaking, transferred intent is, is—I understand it is shooting at a specific person and missing and hitting another. I don’t believe that the facts of this case support that charge. You know, here I think it’s stated that the theory of malice just because there is a shooting. And we would respectfully object to the transfer[red] intent charge, Your Honor.

R. 715, l. 23 – 716, l. 7. The trial court granted the State’s request to charge transferred intent over petitioner’s objection, noting that, even giving him the benefit of the facts of the case, petitioner was accused of shooting into a house with people “he did not know were there.” R. 716, ll. 8 – 21. The trial judge explained that “the Court was concerned that the jury may

believe, after charging that intent is necessary, that the defendant had no intent to harm those individuals.” R. 716, ll. 8 – 21.

The Court of Appeals recognized that King held that attempted murder requires specific intent, but nevertheless ruled that the doctrine of transferred intent applied. State v. King, 422 S.C. 47, 810 S.E.2d 18 (2017); Williams, 812 S.E.2d at 924-26. The court used cases decided before the enactment of the attempted murder statute to conclude that “South Carolina’s criminal laws require the imposition of the doctrine of transferred intent.” Id. The court’s reasoning on this novel issue is not compelled by prior decisions of this Court and contradicts both King and the sound reasoning from other jurisdictions that the legal fiction of transferred intent is completely unnecessary for attempted murder.

The Court of Appeals erred by relying on cases whose applicability after the Legislature’s passage of the attempted murder statute is, at best, questionable. Attempted murder did not exist in South Carolina prior to its creation by the Legislature in 2010. See State v. Sutton, 340 S.C. 393, 398-99, 532 S.E.2d 283, 286 (2000) (“We decline to recognize a separate offense of attempted murder.”); S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-29; King at 62, 810 S.E.2d at 25-26 (noting that the attempted murder statute was part of legislation passed in 2010). The Court of Appeals’ decision is the first in South Carolina to address whether transferred intent applies to statutory attempted murder with the element of specific intent.

The primary case the court relied on, State v. Fennell, was decided in 2000 and dealt with the question of transferred intent under the abolished crime of assault and battery with intent to kill (“ABIK”). State v. Fennell, 340 S.C. 266, 531 S.E.2d 512 (2000). ABIK did not require specific intent. King at 57-64, 810 S.E.2d at 23-27, analyzing, inter alia, State v. Foust, 325 S.C. 12, 479 S.E.2d 50 (1996), Sutton, and State v. Kinard, 373 S.C. 500, 646 S.E.2d 168 (Ct. App.

2007). Because petitioner was charged with a statutory crime that did not exist in 2000, and that this Court expressly declined to recognize under the common law, cases like Fennell do not compel the conclusion that because transferred intent applied to ABIK it must also apply to attempted murder. Especially after this Court decided in King that attempted murder is a specific intent crime, the question of transferred intent's applicability remained an open question until the Court of Appeals' decision in petitioner's case.

Considering the careful analysis given to the Legislature's intent in King, South Carolina should adopt the rationale of a jurisdiction like Alabama, which declined to read transferred intent into its statutory crime of attempted murder. Cockrell v. State, 890 So.2d 174 (Ala. 2004). The Alabama Supreme Court's decision in Cockrell is well-researched and cites the differing points of view around the nation, including South Carolina law as it existed under ABIK. Id. at 175-82. After analyzing the various rules adopted by other jurisdictions and the intent of the Alabama legislature, the court applied the rule of lenity and determined that it would not adopt transferred intent for attempted murder. Id. at 180-82.

Particularly helpful from Cockrell is the concurrence of Justice Harwood. Id. at 183-84. Justice Harwood wrote separately to emphasize that the Alabama legislature had “covered all the bases” with both attempted murder and the different degrees of assault and battery. Id. He wrote, “This complete allocation of criminal culpability under a comprehensive legislative scheme furnishes some insight concerning the legislative intent regarding the applicability of the doctrine of transferred intent to the offense of attempted murder.” Id. South Carolina's comprehensive statutory scheme enacted in 2010 along with the attempted murder statute created new degrees of assault and battery. See S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-600. The logic of Justice Harwood's concurrence carries equal force in South Carolina.

Just as in Alabama, our Legislature “covered all the bases” with attempted murder and the different degrees of assault and battery. If an unintended victim dies, the defendant can be prosecuted for murder because it remains a general intent crime and the intent can be transferred. If an unintended victim lives, the defendant can be prosecuted for attempted murder for the intended victim and one of the assault and battery crimes enacted by the Legislature according to the degree of intent and harm.

The Alaska Supreme Court recognized both this rationale of applying the varying degrees of assault and battery given by the legislature and the absurd results that can arise from applying transferred intent to attempted murder in Ramsey v. State, 56 P.3d 675 (Alaska 2002). Ramsey dealt with a tragic school shooting. Ramsey, 56 P.3d at 676-77. The defendant walked into a high school cafeteria with a shotgun and pointed it at a student named Palacios. Id. When Palacios turned around, the defendant fired. Id. The shotgun blast killed Palacios and pellets from the shotgun injured two other students, SM and RL.² Id.

The Ramsey court dealt with the question of whether the defendant’s specific intent to kill Palacios could be transferred to SM for attempted murder. Id. at 680-83. After noting the split in jurisdictions on the issue, the Alaska Supreme Court decided not to apply transferred intent to its attempted murder statute which, like South Carolina’s, required specific intent. Id. The court explained part of its reasoning by carrying the prosecution’s argument to its logical, but absurd, conclusion:

² The defendant continued his rampage through the school. Id. He fired into the ceiling and pointed a gun at other teachers. Id. He shot and killed the principal. Id. He fired at police officers who responded to the shooting, but then surrendered. Id. The defendant was ultimately convicted of two counts of first-degree murder, one count of first-degree attempted murder, and fifteen counts of third-degree assault. Id. A note left behind by the defendant provided some evidence that the principal was the defendant’s primary focus, but also indicated that he intended to kill other, unidentified individuals. Id. at 677.

The problem with the State's argument is that its logic leads to the conclusion that Ramsey could have been found guilty of the attempted murder of everyone in the school. The jury certainly found that Ramsey intended to cause the death of Palacios. And because his actions would have placed almost any reasonable person in the school in fear of serious physical injury, it is hard to say where the State's attempted murder theory would stop. A defendant can be found guilty of attempted murder whether or not he actually injures his intended victim. Therefore, the State's argument, carried to its logical extension, would allow it to convict Ramsey of the attempted murder of everyone in the building.

Id. at 681-82. Like the concurrence in Cockrell, the Alaska court rejected this absurd result by relying on its legislature's creation of multiple degrees of assault and battery. Id. at 682-83. The court held the jury should have been instructed that it needed to find that Ramsey had the specific intent to kill SM to find him guilty of attempted murder and needed to assess Ramsey's criminal intent and actions as to each of the remaining victims under the different degrees of assault and battery. Id.

Like Alaska and Alabama, South Carolina's Legislature enacted a comprehensive statutory scheme for attempted murder and assault and battery. South Carolina also requires specific intent for attempted murder. The judicially created fiction of transferred intent is simply not required in this state to fully punish a defendant or to correctly charge a jury.

The Alaska court's rationale serves a workable balance when a trial court is confronted with a case with horrific facts like the school shooting in Ramsey. Rejecting transferred intent does not mean that a mass shooter or bomber like Ramsey cannot be charged with multiple counts of attempted murder. It only means the state cannot rely on transferred intent to convict the defendant of multiple counts of attempted murder. For example, no evidence suggests the shooter in Las Vegas intended to kill any one person at the music concert, but it certainly suggested he specifically intended to kill every person at the concert. Nothing would prevent the State from charging a mass shooter or bomber with the attempted murder of multiple victims in

such a scenario. But such monsters are different from a defendant who may have the intent to kill a specific person, but misses. Rejecting transferred intent for attempt crimes does not deprive the State of any necessary tool to fully prosecute criminals and ensures that the law prevents overreaching by the State in other cases.

Also indicating that this Court should reach the same result is the rule of lenity. The Supreme Court of Connecticut applied the rule of lenity to reject transferred intent for attempted murder. State v. Hinton, 630 A.2d 593, 600-02 (Conn. 1993). “A defendant can still be prosecuted for his intent to kill and conduct aimed at killing the intended victim whether a third party is killed or no one is even injured.” Id. “The doctrine of transferred intent, generally considered a necessary fiction, is therefore not necessary to prosecute for attempted murder a defendant whose aim was poor.” Id. Just like South Carolina, Connecticut applies the rule of lenity. Id. See also State v. Blackmon, 304 S.C. 270, 273, 403 S.E.2d 660, 662 (1991) (“Finally, when a statute is penal in nature, it must be construed strictly against the State and in favor of the defendant.”). The rule of lenity, combined with the force of its own logic, led the Hinton court “to conclude that the transferred intent doctrine should not be applied to the crime of attempted murder.” Hinton, 630 A.2d at 602.

California also rejects the doctrine of transferred intent for attempted murder. People v. Smith, 124 P.3d 730, 739-40 (Cal. 2005). Attempted murder in California requires the specific intent to kill. Id. at 734. California recognizes transferred intent for murder, but not attempted murder. Id. at 735. California interprets specific intent as the intent to kill a specific victim. Id. “Whether the defendant acted with the specific intent to kill ‘must be judged separately as to each alleged victim.’” Id. quoting People v. Bland, 48 P.3d 1107 (Cal. 2002).

The facts of Smith are instructive. The defendant fired a single shot into a car, narrowly missing both a baby and its mother. Id. at 736-37. He was found guilty of attempted murder of both the baby and the mother. Id. The court distinguished motive and intent. Id. Like in South Carolina, motive is not required. Id. However, because the defendant knew both the baby and the mother were in his line of fire, the court found specific intent as to both victims with no need for transferred intent. Id. at 737-38. Here, the jury should have decided whether petitioner knew Ycedra and Joseph were in the trailer and whether he formed the specific intent to kill them.

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