STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

**ORIGINAL**  
**RECEIVED**

ON WRIT OF CERTIORARI TO THE COURT OF APPEALS  
Appeal from Saluda County  
Court of General Sessions  
Honorable J. Michael Baxley, Circuit Court Judge

---

DEC 07 2018  
S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2018-000994

THE STATE, .....RESPONDENT,

v.

GERALD RUDELL WILLIAMS, ..... PETITIONER.

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

WILLIAM F. SCHUMACHER, IV  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-0368

S.R. HUBBARD, III  
Solicitor, Eleventh Judicial Circuit

205 E. Main Street  
Lexington Judicial Center

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

## ARGUMENT

### I.

**The Court of Appeals properly found harmless the trial judge's refusal to charge the jury on the lesser-included offense of first-degree assault and battery because the only conclusion established by the evidence was Petitioner attempted to kill the victims.**

Petitioner argues the Court of Appeals erred in finding harmless the trial judge's refusal to charge the jury on the lesser-included offense of first-degree assault and battery, claiming the court made its own credibility findings and improperly weighed the evidence. As noted above, Petitioner has failed to articulate a special or important reason for this Court to grant certiorari on this issue. In any event, the State disagrees with these allegations of error. To determine whether the trial judge's error was harmless, the Court of Appeals was required to weigh the evidence and determine what, if any, effect the error had on the verdict. Applying this Court's analysis from State v. Middleton, 407 S.C. 312, 755 S.E.2d 432 (2014), the Court of Appeals correctly determined the trial judge's error was ultimately harmless.

#### Standard of Review

"In reviewing jury charges for error, we must consider the [circuit] court's jury charge as a whole in light of the evidence and issues presented at trial." State v. Adkins, 353 S.C. 312, 318, 577 S.E.2d 460, 463 (Ct. App. 2003). "The [circuit court] is to charge the jury on a lesser-included offense if there is any evidence from which the jury could infer that the lesser, rather than the greater, offense was committed." State v. Watson, 349 S.C. 372, 375, 563 S.E.2d 336, 337 (2002).

"Errors, including erroneous jury instructions, are subject to harmless error analysis." State v. Belcher, 385 S.C. 597, 611, 685 S.E.2d 802, 809 (2009); see also Lowry v. State, 376 S.C. 499, 507, 657 S.E.2d 760, 764 (2008) ("an unconstitutional jury instruction will not require

reversal of the conviction if the Court determines beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict obtained.”); Arnold v. State/Plath v. State, 309 S.C. 157, 165, 420 S.E.2d 834, 838 (1992) (finding an improper malice charge harmless beyond a reasonable doubt); State v. Jefferies, 316 S.C. 13, 23, 446 S.E.2d 427, 433 (1994) (finding incorrect kidnaping charge which may have confused jury was harmless); State v. Kerr, 330 S.C. 132, 144–45, 498 S.E.2d 212, 218 (Ct. App. 1998) (holding improper and confusing jury charge on impairment in a DUI case was harmless error).

In determining whether an improper jury charge is harmless, “we must determine beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict.” State v. Buckner, 341 S.C. 241, 247–48, 534 S.E.2d 15, 18–19 (Ct. App. 2000). As this Court has explained:

Harmless error review looks to the basis on which the jury actually rested its verdict. From this perspective, in order to conclude that the error did not contribute to the verdict, the Court must “find that error unimportant in relation to everything else the jury considered on the issue in question, as revealed in the record.”

Lowry, 376 S.C. at 508, 657 S.E.2d at 765 (quoting Yates v. Evatt, 500 U.S. 391, 403 (1991)) (internal citation omitted). “In making a harmless error analysis, our inquiry is not what would the verdict have been had the jury been given the correct charge, but rather did the erroneous charge contribute to the verdict rendered.” Jefferies, 316 S.C. at 22, 446 S.E.2d at 432 (citing Sullivan v. Louisiana, 508 U.S. 275 (1993)).

Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. section 16-3-20 (2015), “[a] person who, with intent to kill, attempts to kill another person with malice aforethought, either expressed or implied, commits the offense of attempted murder.” S.C. Code Ann. section 16-3-600 (2015), which codifies the varying degrees of assault and battery, provides:

(C)(1) A person commits the offense of assault and battery in the first degree if the person unlawfully:

(a) injures another person, and the act:

- (i) involves nonconsensual touching of the private parts of a person, either under or above clothing, with lewd and lascivious intent; or
- (ii) occurred during the commission of a robbery, burglary, kidnapping, or theft; or

(b) offers or attempts to injure another person with the present ability to do so, and the act:

- (i) is accomplished by means likely to produce death or great bodily injury; or
- (ii) occurred during the commission of a robbery, burglary, kidnapping, or theft.

(3) Assault and battery in the first degree is a lesser-included offense of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature, as defined in subsection (B)(1), and attempted murder, as defined in Section 16-3-29.

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-600 (C) (Supp. 2017).

In State v. Middleton, 407 S.C. 312, 755 S.E.2d 432 (2014),<sup>2</sup> the defendant appealed his conviction for attempted murder, arguing the trial judge erred in refusing to charge the jury on

---

<sup>2</sup> The full facts of the case, as stated by this Court:

On September 28, 2010, Stephanie Mack was driving her vehicle in which Ryan Stephens was riding as a passenger. Mack stopped the vehicle at a school bus stop sign. They were 10–15 feet away from the school bus, facing the bus in the opposite lane, as kindergarten-aged children attempted to exit the bus. Petitioner, driving a moped, approached Mack’s stopped vehicle from the rear, and drove around to the passenger side. As he approached, he pulled out a gun and began firing into the passenger side of the vehicle, striking the vehicle repeatedly and shattering glass. He continued shooting into the vehicle as he rounded the front of the vehicle. Stephens testified that he and Mack were “laid back” in the seats at the time Petitioner approached the vehicle, and he immediately jumped across Mack and into the driver’s seat so that he could drive away. In the process, he struck Petitioner with the vehicle. He stated these actions were the reasons that he and Mack were not shot and killed. Both Stephens and Mack testified that Petitioner shot at them 5–7 times. None of the bullets struck Mack or Stephens. At trial, Mack testified that her only injuries

first-degree assault and battery as the victim was uninjured when he fired 5-7 bullets into his vehicle and that his actions met the definition of first-degree assault and battery under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-600(C)(1)(b)(i). The Court found the trial judge erred in failing to charge the jury on first-degree assault and battery, as it was undisputed that the defendant's actions met the elements of § 16-3-600(C)(1)(b)(i). However, the Court further found the trial judge's error was harmless because the only evidence produced at trial showed the defendant attempted to kill the victim: he opened fire into the victim's vehicle and shot at least five times, and the only reason the victim was not killed was because he jumped into the driver's seat and ran the defendant off the road. In the Court's view, the error in failing to charge first-degree assault and battery did not contribute to the verdict beyond a reasonable doubt, as there was "no other way to construe the evidence" but that the defendant attempted to kill the victim. Middleton, 407 S.C. at 316–19, 755 S.E.2d at 434–36.

### Analysis

In the instant case, the only evidence presented at trial demonstrated Petitioner attempted to murder the victims. The three witnesses testified Petitioner and Charley shot at them numerous times through the door and walls of the house, with the attack only abating when Young returned fire. Even Charley's testimony,<sup>3</sup> which differed in various respects from the

---

were a few cuts from the broken glass. Stephens testified that he was upset by the incident but was not otherwise struck or injured in any way.

Petitioner was charged with two counts of attempted murder and one count of possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. He requested a jury charge on the lesser-included offense of assault and battery in the first degree on both counts of attempted murder. The trial judge charged the jury on the lesser-included offense as to Mack but refused to charge the lesser-included offense as to Stephens.

407 S.C. at 314–15, 755 S.E.2d at 433–34.

<sup>3</sup> Admittedly, Charley initially testified Rico Riverez, not Petitioner, was the gunman who shot the trailer. However, such testimony would only support a finding of Petitioner's complete innocence, not that he was guilty of a lesser-included offense. See State v. Green, 397 S.C. 268, 289, 724 S.E.2d 664, 674 (2012) ("A trial judge is required to

witnesses' testimonies, supported the attempted murder charge. He testified Young came outside and fired only a single warning shot into the air before Petitioner fired eleven shots at Young and the house. Here, much like Middleton, the only evidence adduced at trial shows Petitioner attempted to murder Young and the occupants of the home. Thus, any error in failing to charge the lesser-included offense was harmless because the erroneous instruction did not contribute to the verdict beyond a reasonable doubt. See Middleton, 407 S.C. at 316–19, 755 S.E.2d at 434–36; Buckner, 341 S.C. at 247–48, 534 S.E.2d at 18–19.

Accordingly, the Court of Appeals did not err in finding harmless the trial judge's failure to charge the jury on first-degree assault and battery.

---

charge the jury on a lesser-included offense if there is evidence from which it could be inferred the lesser, rather than the greater, offense was committed.”); State v. Drayton, 293 S.C. 417, 428, 361 S.E.2d 329, 335 (1987) (finding defendant was not entitled to a charge on a lesser included offense, as the only evidence presented at trial either supported a finding of guilt, or of complete innocence).

## II.

### **The Court of Appeals properly affirmed the trial judge's jury instruction on the doctrine of transferred intent.**

Petitioner asseverates the Court of Appeals erred in finding the doctrine of transferred intent applies to the offense of attempted murder and claims the doctrine is “completely unnecessary” under South Carolina law. (PWC p.10). The State disagrees with this allegation of error. As noted by the Court of Appeals, South Carolina law allows for, and even requires, the doctrine of transferred intent. Further, use of the doctrine is entirely consistent with this Court’s opinion in State v. King, 422 S.C. 47, 810 S.E.2d 18 (2017), because the State still must prove a defendant possessed the specific intent to kill an intended victim; the doctrine only allows for intent to transfer in situations in which the character of a defendant’s actions necessarily endangered others.

### **Standard of Review**

In State v. Sutton, 340 S.C. 393, 532 S.E.2d 283(2000), the South Carolina Supreme Court first addressed the issue of whether attempted murder was an offense in South Carolina. Declining to recognize the common law attempted murder offense, which required a specific intent to kill, as an offense separate from ABWIK, the Court specifically found the common law ABWIK and ABIK offenses “adequately cover the conduct which attempted murder would include.” Id. at 388–89, 532 S.E.2d at 285–86. In short, unlike **common law** attempted murder, common law ABWIK did **not** require a specific intent to kill. However, the Court noted “[a] specific intent to kill may be, and normally is, inferred from the surrounding circumstances [of a crime], such as the character of the attack, the use of a deadly weapon, and the nature and extent of the victim’s injuries.” Id. at 397 n.5, 532 S.E.2d at 285 n.5.

In State v. Fennell, 340 S.C. 266, 531 S.E.2d 512 (2000), the South Carolina Supreme Court found a defendant who killed his intended target but also injured an unrelated third party in his shooting spree was guilty of murder of the intended victim and, using the doctrine of transferred intent, ABWIK of the third party. The court explained:

The defendant's mental state, or mens rea, whatever it may be at the time he allegedly commits a criminal act, is contained within the defendant's brain when he commits the act. That mental state never leaves the defendant's brain; it is not "transferred from the defendant's brain to another person or place. A more apt description might be that the mental state is like a spotlight emanating from its source—the defendant's mind—to its target—the intended victim.

Nor is that mental state in limited supply. The mental state "spotlight" is not extinguished at the moment a bullet strikes and kills the intended victim, such that there is no mental state left upon which to convict an unintended victim who also is injured or killed.

340 S.C. at 271, 531 S.E.2d at 515.

The Omnibus Crime Reduction and Sentencing Reform Act of 2010 (Omnibus Act) substantially overhauled the state's criminal law. State v. Middleton, 407 S.C. 312, 315, 755 S.E.2d 432, 434 (2014). It codified attempted murder in § 16-3-29 (2015) and four degrees of assault and battery in § 16-3-600 (2015). S.C. Code Ann. §§ 16-3-29, -600 (2015). The new degrees of assault and battery are, in descending order of severity, assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature (ABHAN), and assault and battery in the first, second, and third degrees. Middleton, 407 S.C. at 315, 755 S.E.2d at 434. Under the statute, ABHAN is a lesser-included offense of attempted murder. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-600(B)(3) (2015). Assault and battery in the first degree is a lesser-included offense of both attempted murder and ABHAN. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-600(C)(3) (2015). Further, assault and battery in the second and third degree are each lesser-included offenses of every preceding offense. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-600(D)(3) &

(E)(3) (2015). Finally, the Omnibus Act abolished the common law offense of assault and battery with intent to kill, assault with intent to kill, assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature, simple assault and battery, assault of a high and aggravated nature, aggravated assault, and simple assault. See Act No. 273, 2010 S.C. Acts 1947.

In State v. King, 422 S.C. 47, 810 S.E.2d 18 (2017), this Court found the trial court erred in instructing jurors “[a] specific intent to kill is not an element of Attempted Murder but it must be a general intent to commit serious bodily harm.” 422 S.C. at 54, 63–64, 810 S.E.2d at 21, 26–27. The Court found the language of S.C. Code Ann. section 16-3-29, combined with the fact that a majority of jurisdictions have concluded attempted murder requires a specific intent to kill, indicated the General Assembly intended our statute to require a higher degree of intent than the general intent required under ABWIK. Id. at 55–64, 810 S.E.2d at 22–27.

### **Analysis**

As an initial matter, the State contends Petitioner possessed the specific intent to kill the victims. Notably, Petitioner does not dispute the propriety of his conviction for the attempted murder of Young, including his specific intent to complete the crime. The crux of Petitioner’s argument is the mistaken belief that specific intent can only exist as to the primary victim of attempted murder. Notably, the language of § 16-3-29 contradicts this assertion; “attempted murder” does not require that specific intent be directed at a specific individual. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-29 (2015) (“A person who, with the intent to kill, attempts to kill another person with malice aforethought, either expressed or implied, commits the offense of attempted murder.”). Such language is similar to that used in South Carolina’s murder statute; an offense which Petitioner does not dispute allows for the transfer of intent. See S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-10

(2015) (defining “murder” as “the killing of any person with malice aforethought, either express or implied” (emphasis added)).

Petitioner claims this Court’s opinion in King indicates transferred intent is inapplicable to attempted murder. Indeed, this Court found attempted murder is a specific intent crime; however, such a finding is not inconsistent with the use of transferred intent, a fact recognized by the Court of Appeals in its opinion in this case. King, 422 S.C. at 61, 810 S.E.2d at 25; Williams, 422 S.C. at 542–43, 812 S.E.2d at 925–26. Pursuant to King, the State was required to prove Petitioner specifically intended to kill at least one of his victims. However, once the State established Petitioner acted with the requisite degree of intent, that intent remained with Petitioner throughout the duration of the attack.

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